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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE PREPARATION
AND APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Management Is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that present
fairly the financial position of Holme Services Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) as of 31 December 2018 and the results of its operations, cash flows and changes in
shareholders’ equity for the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS").

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:

. Properly selecting and applying accounting policies;
. Presenting information, including accounting pelicies, in @ manner that provides reievant, reliable,
comparable and understandabie informaticn;

. Providing additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are
Insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s consolidated financial position and financial performance;

. Making an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

Management is also responsible for:

. Designing, implementing and maintaining an effective and sound system of internal controls,
throughout the Group;

. Maintaining adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the consciidated financial position
of the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the

Group comply with IFRS;

o Maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting
standards in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

. Taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and

o Preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
approved by management on 27 June 2019:

On behalf of the Management:

LS -
( \ ) A oA
Xenia Koustai
Director

Holme Services Limited (BVI)

Stelios Panayides
Director
Holme Services Limited (BVI)
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AYOUTOPCKOE 3AK/THOMEHME
HE3ABUCUMOIO AYIUTOPA

AkuuoHepam u Coeety Aupektopos Xonm Cepsaiices Jiumurea

MHeHue Cc OrosopKo#

Mbl npoBenu ayauT npunaraeMoii puHaHcosoi oTyeTHocTH Xonm Cepeaiices JiuMutea U ee
AOYEpHUX KoMNaHuii («Mpynna»), cocToRWEN U3 oTYeTa 0 (PUHAHCOBOM MOJIOKEHUM

no coctosHuio Ha 31 aekabps 2018 roga, ot4eTa o NpubbiNAX K yObiTKax 1 NPoYem
COBOKYNHOM A0X0Ae, oTYeTa 06 M3MEHEeHUAX B Kanutane U oT4eTa 0 ABUKEHUU ASHEXHbIX
cpeacTB 3a 2018 roa, a Takxe npuMedaHuii K PUHaAHCOBOI OTYETHOCTH, BKAKOHAR KPaTKMUiA
0630p OCHOBHbIX MONOXEHUIN YHETHOW NONUTUKK.

Mo HaweMy MHEeHUIO, 3a UCK/IOYEeHUEM B/IUSIHUA BONpPOCa, U3N0XKEHHOro B pasaene
«OCHOBaHME AN1A BbIPAXEHNS MHEHUSI C OFOBOPKOK» Hallero 3akni4YeHus, npunaraemas
puHaHCOBasR OTUETHOCTb OTPaXaeT AOCTOBEPHO BO BCEX CYLUECTBEHHbIX acnekrax
$puHaHcoBoe nonoxeHue Mpynnbl No cocTosHU Ha 31 aekabpsa 2018 roga, a Takxe

ee puHaHCOBbIE pe3ynbTaThl U ABMKEHUE ASeHEXHbIX cpeacTs 3a 2018 roa B COOTBETCTBUU
¢ MexxayHapoaHbIMM cTaHaapTaMu puHaHCOBON oTYeTHOCTH («MCDO»).

OcHoBaHMe ANsA BbipaXkeHWs MHeHUA C OrOBOPKOM

Kak yxasaHo B MpuMeyaHuu 13 K KOHCONMANPOBAHHON (PUHAHCOBOM OTHETHOCTH,

no cocTosHuio Ha 31 aekabpsa 2018 1 2017 roaos ogHa U3 KoMnaHui Mpynnbl Hapywuna
obszaTenbHble (PMHAHCOBbIE U HE(DUHAHCOBbIE YCNOBUA (KOBEHAHTbI), NPeAYCMOTPeHHbIe
3aK/1IO4YEeHHbIMU KPeAUTHbIMU AoroBopaMu. HeBbiNoNHeHUe KOBEHAHT npeanonaraer
npuMeHeHe WTpadHbIX CAHKLUWIA K KOMNaHMAM-3aeMLUMKaM, B TOM YUCne AaeT NpaBo
KpeauwTopaM TpeboBaTb AOCPOYHbIM BO3BPAT AEHEXHbIX CPEACTB MO CYLLECTBYIOWUM
obsasaTenbcTeaM. Mocne oTYETHOW AaThl Mpynna nony4Ymna 4OKYMeHTbl, MOATBepXAaiowmue
cornacue 6aHKoOB-KpeAUTOPOB He TpeboBaTb AOCPOYHOrO NOralleHus CyLIeCTBYIOLMX
obA3aTeNnbCTB NO KpeAUTHbIM AorosopaM (Mpumevanme 13). MNMpu 3ToM PykoBoacTso Mpynnbi
OUEHMNO BEPOATHOCTL TpeboBaHW AOCPOHHOrO MOralleHus KPeAUTOB CO CTOPOHbI 6aHKoB
KaK HU3KYI0, U, COOTBETCTBEHHO, NO COCTORHMUIO Ha 31 Aekabps 2018 u 2017 rogos Takue
KpenuTe! B cymMe 242,481 Teic, gonnapos CLUA u 325,629 Toic. Aonnapos CLUA,
COOTBETCTBEHHO, 6blNK OTPaXeHbl B KOHCONUAUPOBaHHOW (DMHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTU B COCTaBe
AONTOCPOYHbIX 0653aTeNbCTB B COOTBETCTBUM CO CPOKaMU MNorallueHus, NpeaycMOTPeHHbIMU
rnepBoHaYasibHbIMK YCNOBUAMM A0roBOpPOB. M0 HalweMy MHEeHUIO, B COOTBETCTBUM

¢ Tpebosanmuamu MCOO (IAS) 1 «[peacTtasneHne UHAHCOBOM OTHETHOCTU» pynna AoNXKHa
6bina knaccupmumMpoBaTh AaHHble 0653aTeNnbCTBa NO KPeAUTaM Kak KpaTKOCPOUHble,
nockonbky Ha 31 paekabps 2018 u 2017 roaos y Mpynnbl He 6bino 6eaycnosHoro npasa
nepeHecTu Ux noraleHne Ha CpoK, COCTaBNAOWMN He MeHee 12 MecAUeB noce yKasaHHbIX

AaT.

Mbl MPOBENU ayAuT B COOTBETCTBUMM C MeXAYyHapOAHBIMW CTaHAapTaMu ayauTa («MCA»).
Hawwu 0683aHHOCTA B COOTBETCTBMM C 3TUMU CTaHAapTaMu yKasaHbl B pasaene
«OTBETCTBEHHOCTb AyANTOPA 3@ ayANT PUHAHCOBOM OTUETHOCTU» HALLErO 3aK/IOUEHUA.
Mbl He3aBUCUMbI MO OTHOLWEHMIO K Mpynne B COOTBETCTBUU C KOAEKCOM 3THKM
npogeccroHansHelx 6yxrantepos CoBeTa no MEXAYHaPOAHLIM CTaHAAPTAM 3THKU

Ans 6yxrantepos («Kogekc») U 3TUHECKUMU TpeboBaHUAMY, MPUMEHUMBIMU K ayauTy
UHAHCOBOM OTUYETHOCTU B Poccuiickol @efepaunu. Hamu Takxe BbINO/HeHbl Npoyne
3TUYeckne 0653aHHOCTH, YCTaHOBNEHHbIe 3TUMU TpeboBaHUAMK U KOAEKCOM,

Mbl nonaraem, 4To NOMYHYUNW AOCTATOUHbIE U HAANEXalUe ayAUTOPCKUe AoKasaTenbeTea
ANSA BbIpaXeHUA MHEHUA C OrOBOPKOM.

MSHNVEHOBARIE SAENGHT OTROCATCE K OOV B0 NOBCHY KOMAECTEy ODUAAHECHIK Fity, BGIONAR Vs ADCAMPCBAH-NIE L3 COBMELTHO BrOAA LAY B WGEACHT Ty ToMauy SivmrTes:
HATTD KOMNA~ IO € CTHETCTBEHOC 20 yHaCT-VKDS 8 T"apa-~THDDSA~E 1 VIV IEELEN 3t SADETATRAC0BARHYC & COCTRETITEI/ € B3KC~CAaTeNsCTaOM BenuncEp manay (danee — ATTAH)
Lav 108 TEX08 P ALUNETKDE 1) 4D FEIEETCH CAMOCTOSTENBRE M ¥ ~8338,400 Maiv DIl HeC AM fiiow. LTT7 [Takae uveryeuas *NE2 R ~3POLHAR CETo Jencitn:) ke “pegocranrser yeny™

FIACHTAM HANPFMYO. MOAPOEHAT MHGOPMALUA O HOPUAAHECKON CTRyXTYDPE LTT/ it BX0QAUINX B HE OPUZAECK X MLy DPEACTABIEHA Ha CaITe WW.delo7Te com/anout,

€ £2 oLen0aT n Tyw CHN. Bce Npasa sauunuems
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CyuwiecTreeHHan HeonpeaeneHHOCTh B OTHOLWEHWU HENpepbiBHOCTU AeATENbHOCTH

MpunaraeMas KoHconuauposaHHas GUHaHCOBAs OTYETHOCTb NOArOTOBNEHa Ha CCHOBE
AonylleHnsa o ToM, 4To Mpynnbl ByAeT HenpepbIBHO NPOAO/KATb CBOO ASRTENbHOCTD.

Kak packpbiTo B8 MpuMeyanuax 2 U 13 K KOHCONMANPOBAHHON (PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTH,

no coctosHuUio Ha 31 aekabpsa 2018 roaa oaHa M3 KOMNaHwii Mpynnbl Hapywuna paa
o6azaTenbHbiX GUHAHCOBLIX U HEe(UHAHCOBBIX YCNOBUI (KOBEHAHTOB) MO AONFOCPOYHbIM
KpeauTHbIM cornalueHuaM. B MpumeuaHun 2 Takxe ykasaHo Ha npogonxalmowmecs ybbiTku
Mpynnbl. JaHHble cobbITUS U YCNOBUA, HapaAy C APYrMMU BONPOCaMM, M3N0KEHHBIMU

B MpuUMeyaHuu 2, yKasblBalOT Ha Hanu4Me CyLeCTBEHHOW HeonpeaeneHHOCTH, KoTopas
MOXET Bbl3BaTb 3HAYMTENbHbIE COMHEHWS B cnocobHOCTM Mpynnbl HENpepbIBHO NPOACNXKATD
[AeATenbHOCTb U NorawaTte cBou o6s3aTenbcTBa B yCTaHOBNEHHOM nopaake. MnaHbl
pykosoacTsa pynnbl B OTHOWEHUKN 3TUX OBCTOATENLCTB NpeAcTaBneHsbl B MpUMeyaHum 2

K KOHCONMAUPOBaHHON PUHAHCOBOM OTUETHOCTH, B MpuMeyaHuu 27 packpbiTbl pesynbTaTobl
npeaBapuTenibHOW KPaTKOCPOYHOM PecTpyKTYpU3aLmMn KpeauTHoro noptdens Mpynnbl.
KoHconuavpoBaHHasa (pMHaHCOBaR OTYETHOCTb HE COAEPXUT KaknMx-nubo KoppekTUpoBoOK,
KoTOopble Mornu 6bl BOSHMKHYTb B peaynbTaTe AaHHOW HeonpeaeneHHoCcTU. 3TU
obcTosTenbcTBa He NpUBeny K MoaAu@UKaLMKM Halero MHeHus.

Ba)xHble obcroaTenbcrBa

He U3MeHAA MHEHUR O AOCTOBEPHOCTU KOHCONMANPOBAHHON PUHAHCOBOW OTYETHOCTH, Mbl
obpalwaeM BHMMaHue Ha lMpuMeyaHue 5, B KOTOPOM yKasbiBaeTcs, 4To 979,040 ThiC.
aonnapos unu 98% npoaax Fpynnel 3a roa, 3akoH4uelMiica 31 aekabpa 2018 roaa,
OTHOCMUTCA K CAeNIKaM CO CBA3aHHbIMKM cTopoHaMu (2017: 824,973 TeiC. AONNapoB, Unu
97%), a Takxe 4to 755 266 Thic. Aonnapos, unu 76% npogax Fpynnel 3a roa,
3akoHuMBlMIiCA 31 aekabpa 2018 roaa, 6bIN0 NONYHEHO OT CAGNOK C OAHUM
KOHTPareHToM, KOTOPbIN ABNAETCA KOMNaKuel noa obwumM KoHTponemM (2017: 774,175 Toic.
Acnanapcs, uam 21%).

OTBETCTBEHHOCTb PYKOBOACTBA M JIML, OTBEHAIOLIWX 33 KOPNopaTUBHOe
yrnpaenexue, 3a GUHAHCOBYIO OTYETHOCTL

PyKOBOACTBO HeceT OTBETCTBEHHOCTb 32 NOArOTOBKY M AOCTOBEPHOE NpeAcTaBneHne
¢prHaHCOBON OTYETHOCTH B cooTBETCTBMU ¢ MCOO U 3a CUCTEMY BHYTPEHHEr0 KOHTPONS,
KOTOPYI0 PYKOBOACTBO CHMTaeT Heo6XxoAuMOH ANA NOAroTOBKU (PUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTH,
He copepxallen CYLWEecTBEeHHbIX UCKaXeHUiA BCneacTBMe HeaobpoCcoBeCTHbIX AeUCTBUIA MNH

ownbok.

Mpu noaroToBkKe pUHAHCOBON OTHETHOCTU PYKOBOACTBO HECeT OTBETCTBEHHOCTb 3a OLEHKY
cnoco6HoCTH Mpynnbl HeNpepLIBHO NPOACAXKATL AEATENbHOCT, 3@ PacKpbiTUe

B COOTBETCTBYIOLMX CNyHaAX CBEASHUM, OTHOCALUMXCA K HeNpepbiBHOCTH AEATENBHOCTY,

1 3@ COCTaBNeHWe OTHETHOCTU Ha OCHOBE AONYLUEHUSA O HENPEepbIBHOCTU ASATENbHOCTH,

3@ UCKNIOHeHUEM Cily4HaeB, Koraa pyKoBOACTBO HAMepeBaeTCA IMKBUAUPOBaTL Mpynny,
NpeKpaTuTb ee fesTeNbHOCTb UM KOrha y PYKOBOACTBA OTCYTCTBYET NpakKTuyeckas
anbTepHaTUBa NMKBMAALMMU WK NPeKPaLLEeHUIO AeRTeNbHOCTU Mpynnbl.

Jluua, oTBevaowme 3a KOpnNopaTUuBHoe ynpasneHue, HecyT OTBETCTBEHHOCTb 3a HaA30p
3a NoAroToBKOW (PUHAHCOBOW OTYUETHOCTU Mpynnbl.

OTBeTCTBEHHOCTb aYAUTOPA 3a ayauUT PUHAHCOBOW OTHETHOCTH

Hawa uenb COCTOUT B NONYHEHUU PasyMHOM YBEPEHHOCTH, YTC PUHAHCOBAS OTHETHOCTL
He COAEPXMT CyLLeCTBEHHbIX UCKaXeHUW BcneacTBue HeaobpocoBeCTHbIX AeUCTBUIA UAK
oWwKBOoK, U B BbiNyCKe ayAUTOPCKOro 3aK/OMeHUs, CoAepXallero Hawe MHeHne, PasyMHas
yBEpPEeHHOCTb ~ 3TO BbICOKaA CTeNeHb YBEPEHHOCTU, HO OHa He rapaHTUpPYeT, YTO ayauT,
npoBejeHHblii B cOOTBETCTBUM ¢ MCA, BCceraa BhISBUT CYLIECTBEHHbIE UCKaXEeHUA NPU UX
Hanuuuu. UckaxxeHna MoryT 6biTb pesynbTaToM HeaobpocoBECTHbIX AeUCTBMI UK ownbok
W CYMTAKOTCA CYLIECTBEHHbBIMU, EC/IM MOXHO 060CHOBaHHO NPEANONOXUTb, YTO

B OTAE/MIbHOCTU WM B COBOKYNHOCTU OHWU MOTYT NOBJ/IUATDL Ha 3KOHOMUYECKUE pelleHns
nonb3ogaTtenei, NPUHMMaeMble Ha OCHOBe (PUHAHCOBOI OTHETHOCTH.
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B paMkax ayauTa, NpoBOAMMOro B cooTBeTCTBUM € MCA, Mbl NpUMEHsIeM
npodeccuoHanbHoe CyXAeHUe U coxpaHseMm NpodeccuoHanbHeli CKENTULM3M
Ha NPOTAXeHUU BCero ayauTa, KpoMme Toro, Mbi:

o BbIABNAEM U OLUEHUBAEM PUCKU CYLLECTBEHHOr0 UCKaXeHUA (PUHAHCOBOI OTYETHOCTU
BCNneacTsne HeaobpocoBECTHBIX ASMCTBUIA Mnu owmnbok; paspabaTeiBaeM U NPOBOAUM
ayAUTOpPCKUE Npouelypbl B OTBET Ha 3TU PUCKU; NONy4YaeM ayauTOpCKUe
[OKasaTenbcTea, AOCTaTOYHbIE U Hagnexaluue ANs BbipaXeHUa Halero MHeHusa. PUck
HeobHapyXeHUs CYLeCTBEHHOro MCKaXeHUs B pesynbTraTe HeA06pocoBeCTHbIX
AeACTBUIA Bbllle, YeM PUCK HeoOHapyXeHUs CyLeCcTBEHHOro UCKaXXeHWa B pesy/bTaTe
owmnbku, Tak Kak HepaobpocoBecTHbIe AeNCTBUA MOTYT BKIKOMaTb Crosop, nNoanor,
YMBILWNEHHbIA NPONYCK, UCKaXXeHHOe npeacTasneHne UHPopMaLuumu Unu AeUCTBUR
B 06x04 AeCTBYIOWEN CUCTEMbI BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPONSA;

. nony4yaeMm NoOHUMaHWe BHYTPEHHUX KOHTPONEH, 3HaYMMbIX ANSA ayauTa, C Lenbio
pa3paboTku ayaMTOPCKUX Mpoueayp, COOTBETCTBYIOWMX obCToATeNbCTBAM,
HO He C Lesbio BblpaXeHUA MHeHUA 06 apheKTUBHOCTM CUCTEMbI BHYTPEHHEro
KOHTpOnsA KoMnaHuw;

e OLEHMBaeM Haanexalunii xapakTep NPUMEHREMON YHETHON NOAUTUKU
1 060CHOBAHHOCTb ByXranTepckux OLEHOK U COOTBETCTBYIOLEro pacKpbiTUaA
uHbOpMaLMK, NOArOTOBNEHHOTO PYKOBOACTBOM;

e [enaem BbiBOA O NPABOMEPHOCTH NMPUMEHEeHUs PYKOBOACTBOM AOMYLIEHUS
0 HenpepbIBHOCTH AEATENBHOCTH, @ Ha OCHOBaHMM MOMYHEHHbIX ayAUTOPCKUX
[OKa3aTeNbCTs — BbIBOA O HAAMYMU CYLWECTBEHHO HEONPEAeNeHHOCTH B CBAZM
¢ cobbITUSMU UM YCNOBUAMM, B peaynbTaTe KOTOPbLIX MOMyT BOZHUKHYTb
3HayuTeNbHble COMHEHUS B CNOCOBHOCTU MPyNMbl HEMpepbIBHO MPOAOCAXKATD
AeaTenbHoCThb. ECAM Mbl NPUXOAUM K BbIBOAY O Ha/lMHYMM CYLIECTBEHHOM
HeonpeaeneHHOCTH, Mbl AO/MKHBI B HALWEeM ayAUTOPCKOM 3aKN0YeHUM NpuBieyb
BHUMaHWE K COOTBETCTBYIOLIEMY PacKpbiTMIO MHPOPMauuu B GUHAHCOBOM OTYETHOCTU
UNK, B CAyYae HeHaaneXallero packpbitusi, MOAUDUUMPOBATL MHEHHWe. Halm BbiBOAb!
OCHOBbIBAIOTCA Ha ayAUTOPCKUX AOKA3aTeNbCTBaX, NOAYYEHHbIX 40 AaTbl
ayauToOpCKOro saknwoueHus. OgHako, Syaywme cobbiTUA UAN YCNOBUS MOTYT NpUBECTU
K yTpaTe KoMnaHuei criocobHOCTH HenpepbiBHO NPOAOAXaTh AeATENbHOCTD;

s MPOBOAWM OLEHKY NPeacTaBneHus PpUHAHCOBON OTYETHOCTM B LIENOM, ée CTPYKTYpbl
M coaepXaHus, BKNOYaa packpbitue MHPOpMaLnK, a Takxe obecneyerHus
LAOCTOBEPHOCTU MpeACTaBEHUA NeXallux B ee OCHOBE onepauuii U cobbITHiA.

Mbl MHpOPMUPYEM NNUL, OTBEHAIOWMX 328 KOProOpaTUBHOE ynpasieHue, O 3aniaH1poBaHHOM
obbeMe M CpoKax ayAuTa, a Takxke O CyllecTBeHHbIX NpobneMax, BbIABNEHHbIX B X0Ae
ayAuTa, B TOM YMC/I@ O SHAYUTENbHbBIX HEAOCTaTKax CUCTEeMbl BHYTPEHHEro KOHTPOAS.

MetenkuH Erop,
pyKOBOAUTEND 3aAaHUSE

27 nioHA 2019 roaa

KoMnanua: Xonm Cepsuc Sinmuten AyAUTOPCKER OPraHuaaumna: AO «1enoiT u Tyw CHIM»

OCHOBHO FOCYA3PCTBEHHBIN PErMCTPaUMOHHDI HoMep: — CBMAETENbCTBO O rOCYA3PCTBEHHOA PerMcTpaumm
N° 018.482, BblAaHO MOCKOBCKON PErMCTPaUMOHHOR

1379319

nanatoi 30.10.1992 r.
MecTo HaxoxgeHua: Buprusckue Ocrposa, TopTona, =

Oci ) '
Poan TayH, TPUAEHT Hambepc 10;5;:34 zrg:xﬁapmenuun PerMCTPaLMOHHDIA HOMEDP

CBnAaeTenbCTBO 0 BHECeHWW 3anucyn B ENPION:
cepus 77 N? 004840299, sbiaaHo 13.11.2002 r.
MexpaioHHoi WHcnekyue MHC Poocum NO 39
no r. Mockea.

YneH caMoperynupyemMon opraHM3aumun ayauTtopos
«Poccuitckuit Colo3 ayauTopos» (Accoumaums),
OPH3 11603080484,

4
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

(US Doilar thousand)
31 December 31 December
Note 2018 2017
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in assoclates 6 10,505 14,377
Intangible assets 7 71,651 92,904
Property, plant and equipment 8 488,209 591,865
Deferred tax assets 22 22,024 28,597
Other non-current assets 3,373 3,468
Total non-current assets 595,762 731,211
Current assets
Inventories Q 132,597 171,585
Trade and other receivables 10 213,483 302,790
Prepayment of income tax 2,581 2,506
Cash and cash equivalents 11 8,510 8,809
Total current assets 357,171 485,690

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Share premium
Additional paid-in capital

Reserve on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

Accumulated losses
Currency translation reserve

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans from financial institutions

Other long-term borrowings

Finance lease liabilities = non-current portion

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Short-term loans and borrowings

Trade, tax and other payables
Provisions and accruals

Finance lease liabilities - current portion

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

12
12
12

13

5,13

13
15
16

952,933

1,216,901

37 37
260,764 360,764
116,117 43,864
157,427 142,116

(502,528) (375,273)
(28,243) (6,241)
103,574 165,267
242,481 325,629
291,819 350,617
86 439
534,386 676,685
158,895 171,693
150,308 196,869
5,680 6,018

90 370
314,973 374,950
849,359 1,051,635

952,933

The notes on pages 9 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

— 1216001
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

(US Dollar thousand)
Note 2018 2017

Revenue 1,001,508 852,800
Cost of sales 17 (991,233) (794,461)
Gross profit 10,275 58,339
General and administrative expenses 18 (15,755) (17,505)
Share of loss of associates 6 (1,568) (2,394)
Other income 19 7,508 17,344
Other expenses 20 (4,881) (4,659)
Impairment of intangible assets (14,917) -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (3,904) -
Operating (loss)/profit (23,242) 51,125
Finance income 21 2,240 1,042
Finance expenses 21 108,339 65,150
Loss before income tax (129,342) (12,083)
Income tax (expense)/benefit 22 1,998 (4,783)
Loss for the year (127,344) (16,866)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment 19,250 -
Deferred tax liability on revaluation of property, plant and

equipment (3,850) -
Exchange differences on translation to presentation currency (22,002) 7,936
Other comprehensive income (6,602) 7,936
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ‘149@25! ‘8i93ll

The notes on pages 9 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from customers

Cash paid to suppliers

Cash pald to employees

Government grants received

Other payments

Net cash generated/{used in) by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments in associates

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings received from related parties
Proceeds from borrowings received from financial institutions
Repayment of borrowings received from related parties
Repayment of borrowings received from financial institutions
Redemption of cash deposited in accordance with covenants
Commissions and fees paid to banks

Government grants received

Interest paid

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange changes including effect of revaluation of cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

2018 2017
1,137,314 981,837
(932,534) (937,575)
(80,010) (78,256)
- 1,339
(42,535) (78,488)
82,235 (111,143)

5 (91)
(23,435) (15,649)
(15,398) (18,512)
312 431
(38,521) (33,821)
15,456 55,016
135,549 480,030
(1,598) (37,895)
(144,320) (361,507)
- 32,880

- (1,476)

. 8,568
(47,549) (46,118)
(42,461) 130,398
1,255 (14,566)
(1,554) 1,259

8,809

8,510
———

22,116

8,809

The notes on pages 9 to 45 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE GROUP AND ITS ACTIVITY

Holme Services Limited (the "Company”) was incorporated and domiciled in British Virgin Islands
(BVI) as a private limited liability company on 11 January 2007. The Company'’s registered office
is at Trident Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands.

During the reporting period, the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “Group”) were mainly involved In production of railway cars at the plant located in the
Russian Federation (town of Tikhvin, Tikhvin region, Leningradskaya oblast) and in further
development of the plant to achieve a higher production capacity.

The Company owns the following significant entities:

Ownership interest

Place of December 31, December 31,
Company name incorporation Principal activity 2018 2017
Raygold Limited Cyprus Investment company 99,97% 99.97%
Development of
AFCT Advanced Freight Car production technology
Technology Limited ("AFCT") Cyprus for the plant 99.93% 99.93%

Development of
production technology
Deanroad Limited (“Deanroad”) Cyprus for the plant 99% 99%
Development of
production technology

Rail1520 IP Limited Cyprus for the plant 100.00% 100.00%
Pegadisa Management Limited Cyprus Investment company 100.00% 100.00%
CJSC “Tikhvin Railway Car Railcar manufacturing

Manufacturing Plant” ("TVSZ") Russia plant 99.97% 99.97%

As at 31 December 2017 PISC “"RPC UWC" is a sole shareholder of the Company. PISC “"RPC UWC”
prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use, which disclose the ultimate
controlling party of PISC "RPC UWC" and the Company.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs").

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain assets that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies below. The Group maintains its accounting records in accordance with
the laws, accounting and reporting regulations of the countries where the Group entities are

domiciled.

Accounting principles and financial reporting procedures in those jurisdictions may differ
substantially from those generally accepted under IFRS. Accordingly, the financial statements of
the Group entities have been adjusted to ensure that they are presented in accordance with IFRS.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousand of US dollars (hereinafter
“USD thousand”), unless otherwise indicated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services,
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Falr value Is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
crderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the
fair value of an asset or a llabiiity, the Greup takes into account the characteristics of the asset or
liability if market participants would take those characteristics Intc account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except fer {easing
transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In addition, for consolidated financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in

its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Company can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset cr liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Group
will continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, which implies the realization of assets
and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.

Under the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a number of
covenants and restrictions, including maintenance of certain financial ratios and other non-
financial conditions. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in negative consequences
for the Group, including declaration of default (Note 13).

All loans and borrowings are presented in these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with initial expected payment terms stipulated in the loan agreements, notwithstanding whether
the covenants have been breached as at the reporting date, or not.

After the reporting date but before the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements
officlal letters were received, confirming that the creditors’ will not demand an early repayment of
the loans in relation to the covenants breached as at 31 December 2018,

In 2018 the Group's consolidated loss was USD 126,812 thousand (2017: USD 16,866 thousand).

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group was at the final
stage of the project for the restructuring of its loans portfolio from one of its major creditors,
Otkritie FC Bank PISC. The portfolio restructuring project provides for the following arrangements
to reduce the Group’s Indebtness and ensure its ability to settle short-term liabllities in due
course. In March 2019, the Group signed addendums to its loan agreements with Otkritie FC Bank
P1SC. Those changes reduced interests to a fixed rate of 9.55%, postponed the payment date of
interest accrued in 2019 by one quarter and postponed the payment of short-term portion of loan
(including future interest expenses) of USD 10,316 thousands by one quarter.

These measures will allow the Group to manage its current liquidity in the first and second
quarters of 2019 and finalize the restructuring process aimed at optimizing the Group’s entire
loan portfolio: in the second quarter of 2019, the Group expects to receive a positive decision
from the credit committee of Otkritie FC Bank PISC providing for a new set of covenants enabling
the Group to comply with them, given the Group’s current operating and financial performance;
adjust the ratio of short-term and long-term liabilities to eliminate the deficit of short-term assets
in the long term perspective and provide the Group with the opportunity to manage operating and
financial cash flows more efficiently; reduce the weighted average cost of debt, which, in turn,

will favorably impact the Group’s the consolidated financial results.

10
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

In addition based on management forecasts, the minimum expected production level at TVSZ
JSC, in 2019 will be between 16.5 - 17 thousand railcars (actual production in 2018 was

16.5 thousand railcars). The management of the Group expects stable demand for the innovative
railcars in 2019: as at the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has entered into contracts or made preliminary arrangements for sale of the whole volume of
railcars planned for production in 2019, and partially in 2020, at prices on average 15% higher
than in 2018, mainly due to an increase in production of special-purpose rallcars. In 2019 and
beyond, the Group does not expect a significant decrease of demand for the railcars and plans to
increase its gross and operating prefit by reduction of administrative expenses and increasing the
production efficiency.

The management of the Group believes that it is highly probable that the credit committee of
Otkritie FC Bank PISC will issue a positive decision regarding the Group’s loan portfolio
restructuring and the combination of the above mentioned facts will ensure the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern,

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The functional currency of the Group's entities is the Russian Rouble
(*RUB"}. The consoclidated financial statements are presented in US Doilars ("USD") which is
the presentation currency used by the Group.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated In foreign currencies are recognised

in profit or loss.

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all entities of the Group are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented (i.e., including
comparatives) are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the relevant period
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(c) Equity components are presented at historic rates and all resulting exchange
differences are recognised within other comprehensive income or loss and
as a separate component of equity.

The translation exchange rates which have been used are as follows:

Exchange rate of RUB against USD 31 December 31 December

(Central Bank of the Russian Federation) 2018 2017

As of the reporting date 69.4706 57.6002

Average rate for the respective period 62.7078 58.3529
13
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Offsetting

Financial assets or liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset In the consolidated statement of profit or
loss unless required or permitted by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically
disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

Basis for consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has

the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Company. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. Control

is achieved when the Company:

° Has power over the investee;
° Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its Involvement with the investee; and
. Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over
the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

. The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of other vote holders;
o Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;

. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or dces not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisicns need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intragroup balances and any
unrealized gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intragroup transactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries is identified separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Total comprehensive income / (loss) is attributed to non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received Is
recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

12
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transacticns between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are aisc eliminated to the extent they do not
represent an impairment loss on the Group’s non-current assets. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted

by the Group.
Investments in associates and joint ventures

An entity is considered an associate if the Group has significant influence over its financial and
operating activities. Significant influence Is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method, except when the investment Is
classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for In accordance with IFRS 5. Under the
equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the
Group'’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the assoclate or joint
venture. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that assoclate or joint venture (which includes any interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate

or joint venture,

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee Is
recognized as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in consolidated statement
of profit and loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture. Any
impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases
to be an associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest Is
a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition.
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an
associate, There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership Interest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continues tc use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previously been recognized in other comprehensive Income relating te that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized in the
Group's consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed, If, after reassessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess Is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

For the purposes of impalrment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,

or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be Impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss Is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset In the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated Impairment losses. Amortization is recognized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortization method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on

a prospective basis. Intangible assets with Indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure ~ The Group
recognizes intangible assets arising out of development when it can demonstrate all of the
following:

o The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale;

° Its intention to complete, use or sell the asset;

e«  The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

° It is probable that the asset will generate future economic benefits;

. The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete, use or sell
the asset; and

o Its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

14
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Expenditure on research activities Is recognized as an expense in the period in which it was
incurred. Development expenditure, that does not meet the criteria of intangible assets, is
charged to the statement of comprehensive income when incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets that are acquired separately.

No amortization is charged for intangible assets that are in the phase of development.
Amortization begins when the asset is available for use, that is, when the asset is in the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Intangible assets which have been transferred from intangible assets under development to
intangible assets subject to amortization are represented with patents and are amortized over the
useful economic lives of the patents ranging between 9 to 289 months.

In 2018, the Group’s management reconsidered the useful lives of its intangible assets.

As a result, a number of intangible assets, being the know-how and costs related to development
of production technology, were reclassified from intangible assets with indefinite useful lives to
items with useful lives of 43 years, which is equal to the average residual life of immovable
property used by the Group for the production of railway cars at the manufacturing facility.

The ERP system development and installation costs are amortized over 120 months which is
the best estimate of their useful economic lives.

Expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance of intangible assets beyond their
original specifications is recognized as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the
intangible asset.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination - Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intanglible assets that are acquired

separately.
Property, plant and equipment

Before 30 June 2016 all categories of property, plant and equipment were stated at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, Historical cost model was applied.

In 2016 for certain categories of property, plant and equipment management of the Group
decided to change the accounting policy to a revaluation model. As at the reporting date
Production equipment and motor vehicles and Production plant and buildings categories (Group 1)
are stated at revalued amounts, and Office equipment and furniture category (Group 2) -

at historical cost.

Starting from 30 June 2016 items of property, plant and equipment from Group 1 are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation, less any subsequently accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued cost were last revalued on 30 June 2018

(Note 8).

Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ
materlally from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting

period.

Items of property, plant and equipment from Group 2 are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their cost, less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses.

15
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of property, plant and equipment from Group
1 is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent
that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss,
in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously
expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation is recognized In profit or
loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve
relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Construction in-progress is carried at cost, less any recognized impairment loss. Cost includes
capital expenditures directly related to the construction of property, plant and equipment
including an appropriate allocation of directly attributable variable overheads including capitalized
borrowing costs on qualifying assets. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as for other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Construction in-
progress items are reviewed regularly to determine whether their carrying value is fairly stated.

The costs of day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment, including repairs and
maintenance expenditure, are expensed as incurred.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

The Group recognizes in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the
cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The assets being replaced are written off immediately to consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. All other costs are recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive iIncome as an expense as
incurred.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized In the
consolidated profit or loss.

Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold
land and properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis. Freehold land and assets under construction are not

depreciated.

Depreciation Is charged as from the time when an asset is available for use over the following
useful economic lives:

Useful life,

years
Office equipment and furniture 1-10
Machinery, equipment and motor vehicles 12-32
Production plant and buildings 26-60

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain
from disposal of the asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life. Residual values of assets and their
useful lives are reviewed and adjusted at each balance sheet date, if necessary.

16
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HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-current assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate

the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less ccsts to sell and value in-use. In assessing
value in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been reccgnized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior
years. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated profit or
loss.

Leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the
inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each |lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as tc achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings. The interest
element of the finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce

a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance lezses are depreciated over the shorter of
the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of comprehensive income or
loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Financial instruments

Financlal assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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Classification and measurement of financial assets

All recognized financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value,
depending on classification. The classification depends on the business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument. As at the
reporting date, the Group had only financial assets measured at amortized cost.

Amortized cost and effective Interest rate method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on a debt instrument paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus any principal repayments plus the cumulative amortization determined using
the effective interest method for the difference between the initial amount and the maturity
amount, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. Gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset, before adjusting for any expected credit loss
allowance,

Interest Income is calculated by using the effective interest method and recognized in the
Financial income line item of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
ent o anc

The Group recognizes allowances for expected credit loss relating to investments in debt
instruments recognized at amortized cost, as well as trade and other accounts receivable. The
amount of expected credit loss ("ECL") recognized is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the credit risk which have occurred since initial recognition of the respective financial
asset.

The Group always recognizes lifetime ECL for its trade and other receivables. ECL for these
financial instruments is determined based on the Group's credit loss history adjusted for debtor-
specific factors, the overall economic situation and an assessment of both current and projected
circumstances at the reporting date (including the time value of money, where appropriate).

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognizes lifetime ECL when there has been

a significant increase in the credit risk since the Initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument. On the other hand, when a credit risk has not increased significantly since Initial
recognition, the Group creates an allowance for such financial Instruments in an amount equaling
to the following 12-month ECL. The determination of the need to recognize lifetime ECL is based
on the identification of a significant increase in the credit risk or probabllity of default since initial
recognition, rather than evidence of financial asset impairment as at the reporting date or an
actual default event, Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the financial instrument. 12-month ECL are the expected
credit losses that result from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Estimation of ECL is based on the default probability and loss given default. Default probabillity
and loss given default estimation is based on historical data adjusted for forecast data.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. On derecognition of a financial asset carried
at amortized cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognized in profit or loss.
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Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

All recognized financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method or fair value through profit or loss («FVTPL»). As at the reporting date, the Group
had only financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities that are not (1) contingent liabilities of acquirers in a business combination,
(2) held for trading, or (3) classified at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees on a financial liability paid or received that form an integral part cf the affective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
debt liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable is recognized in profit or
loss.

Spare parts

Major spare parts and equipment intended for repair and maintenance of property, plant and
equipment, are included In other non-current assets if the Group intends to use them for more
than one year. Spare parts are stated at lower of cost and net realizable value. Actual cost
consists of cost of purchased materials and, if applicable, direct labor cost and respective part of
allocated overheads, incurred to bring spare parts to their existing location and condition. Upon
usage, the cost of spare parts is charged to profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realizable value. Actual cost consists of cost of
purchased materials and, if applicable, direct labour cost and respective part of allocated
overheads, incurred to bring inventory to their existing location and condition. Net realizable
value Is the estimated selling price In the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. The cost of inventory is based on the weighted average cost
principle and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their
existing location and condition.

Prepayments

Prepayments classified as current assets represent advance payments to suppliers for goods and
services. Prepayments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and equipment are
classified as non-current assets. Prepayments to acquire assets are transferred to the carrying
amount of the asset once the Group has obtained control of the asset and it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group. Prepayments for services are
written off to profit or loss when the services are received. Prepayments are carried at cost less
provisions for impairment, if required. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services
relating to a prepayment will not be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written
down accordingly and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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Value Added Tax {«VAT»)

Output value added tax related to sales Is payable to tax authorities on the earlier of

(a) collection of proceeds from customers cr {b) delivery of goods or services te customers. Input
VAT is generally recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. Tax authorities
permit the settlement of VAT on a net basis., VAT related to purchases where all the specified
conditions for recovery have not been met yet is recognised in the statement of financial pesition
and disclosed separately within accounts receivable, while input VAT that has been claimed is
netted off with the output VAT payable. Where provision has been made for impairment of
recelvables, impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly-liquid investments with original maturity of three months or less. Restricted cash
balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the cash flow
statement. Balances restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least
twelve months after the financial year-end date are included in non-current assets,

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when, and only when, the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable (I.e. more likely than neot) that

an outfiow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligaticn. and
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant,

the amount of a provision is the present value of the cash flows required to settle the obligation.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity. In this
case the tax is also recognised in equity. Taxes other than on income are recorded within

operating expenses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the financial year-end date in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulaticn is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax

authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred
income tax is not recognised if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is

settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries
and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled

by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized in the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in accordance with the contractual terms, excluding any amounts received on behalf
of third parties.

The Group recognizes revenue when or as a contractual obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control’
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer, as follows:

. Revenue from the sale of railcars Is recognized when control, 1.e. significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset, is transferred to the custecmer and the Greup has no
outstanding obligations to the customer that could affect the acceptance of the sold goods.
Most of railcar sale contracts with customers provide for the transfer of control to the
customer after completing technical inspection of the goods at the manufacturing plant and
signing an acceptance act confirming the specification and quality of the goods sold.

Fer the contracts that provide delivery of railcars to a certain dispatch location, control Is
transferred to the customer upon delivery of railcars to the specified location and signing
an act of acceptance;

. Income from the sales of rail-based freight transportation services is recognized in the
reporting period when the services are rendered, by reference to stage of completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of
the total services to be provided. The Group recognizes revenue in the amount of fees for
the provision of rolling stock, while charges for railway infrastructure services (railway
freight tariff of PJSC Russian Railways) are borne directly by the customers;

B Revenue from the sale of inventories Is recognized upon transfer of control to a customer in
accordance with the respective contract with the customer. Some contracts provide for the
delivery of goods to the customer, others release the Group from the obligation to pay for
the delivery to the customer, The Group reviews the moment of transfer of control under
each significant inventory sales contract separately, as the sales contracts for components
and casting are concluded on an individual basis.

Significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the expected amount of consideration for
the effect of the time value of money as the advances recelved from customers provides the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods to the customer.

The Group does not adjust the expected amount of consideration for contracts providing for

a significant financing component If the period between the date of transfer of promised good or
service to a customer and the date of payment for that good or service will be one year or less.
Advances received under such contracts are treated as short-term where the respective supplies
are expected in the same month of the following year or earlier.

Warranty liabilities

In accordance with the Group’s standard contractual terms, the warranty period for railcars varies
on average from 2 to 8 years (up to the date of the first depot repair for railcars produced and
sold in same reporting period). The Group does not adjust revenue for warranty liabilities as the
historical information of warranty returns indicates near-zero returns from customers.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their

intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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Government grants
The Group receives the following types of government grants:

. Compensation of interest expense on bank loans;
o Grants related to assets, that is ~compensation of expenses for purchase of materials for
production of railcars.

Government grants are recognized at their fair value when there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions attached.

Government grants related to compensation of interest expense are credited to profit or loss over
the periods of the related interest expense unless the interest was capitalized into the cost of
preperty, plant and equipment in which case they are deducted from the cest of the respective
items of property, plant and equipment and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of these assets.

Government grants related to assets are deducted from the carrying value of the related asset
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Grants are recognized in profit or loss if the
related asset is sold or disposed of.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incrementa! costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share premium is the difference between the fair value of the consideration recelvable for the
issue of shares and the nominal value of the shares.

Shareholder capital contributions

Equity contributions made by shareholders, whereby shares are not issued, are recorded as
additional capital within equity whereby such capital contributions do not carry any Interest and
any future return to the shareholder is at the Group's discretion.

Employee benefits

Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social insurance funds,
paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits (such as health services
and kindergarten services) are accrued In the year in which the associated services are rendered
by the employees of the Group. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to make
pension or similar benefit payments beyond the payments to the statutory defined contribution

scheme.
Contractual commitments

Contractual commitments comprise legally binding trading or purchase agreements with stated
amount, price and date or dates in the future. The Group discloses significant contractual
commitments in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements unless they arise
as a result of a business combination. Contingencies attributed to specific events are disclosed
unless the possibllity of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.
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Relief from property tax

In 2009 the Group signed an investment agreement with the authorities of the Leningrad region.
The Group met the conditions of the agreement and was relieved from the property tax payable
for all its assets located in that region until 2018,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financia! year, are discussed below.

Depreciation periods for property, plant, and equipment

The Group assesses the remaining useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment at least
annually at the end of each reporting period or at the date of revaluation of property, plant and
equipment carried at revalued cost. If expectations differ from previous estimates, the difference
is recognized as a change in accounting estimates, in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. These estimates may have a material impact on the
amount of the carrying values of property, plant and equipment and on depreciation expense for
the period.

The key assumptions used in the calculation of fair values of property, plant and
equipment

The Group recognizes its property, plant and equipment included In the Production Plant and
Buildings and Production Equipment and Motor Vehicles categories at revalued cost (fair value)
using a number of accounting estimates.

The general practice presumes determining the fair value of general-purpose assets based on
market data as the key source of information that predetermines the use of the so-called
comparative approach. Where there is no active market or market information for specific
categories of assets, other sources and approaches may be used. Special-purpose assets that do
not have active market on a stand-alone basis account for roughly 95% of the total carrying value
of the Group’s property, plant and equipment carried at revalued cost. Special-purpose assets are
measured using the cost method which presumes the determination of residual cost of

replacement.
Since the average age of the Group’s production property, plant and equipment is around 3 to
4 years, in determining the full replacement cost under the cost method, the Group used the

historical cost indexation approach which ensures sufficient accuracy for a relatively new
property.
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Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and
the intangible assets have been allocated. The value In use calculation requires management to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value.

Annually the Group performs the following procedures to test for impairment of goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful life (before 2018):

. Analysis of significant events which could have influenced cash flows (restructuring of
the Group, implementation of investment programs, change in market trends, terms of
financing and taxation, etc.);

° Review the list (update of the current list) of identifiable assets and cash-generating units
(“CGU") which will be further tested for impairment. Those significant CGUs are reviewed,
at which goodwill have been allocated (this could be separate business units, subsidiaries or
segments). Upon completion of the list, a factor of materiality is considered, as well
as Impairment indicators (reducticn in the value of net assets, incompletion of the budget,
accounting losses);

. Identificaticn of a ciscounting rate, reflecting an adjusted weighted cost of capital of
the Group;

s Summarizing the information on the value of assets including goodwill (property, plant and
equipment, intangibie assets, construction in progress), expected in a middle-term (no more
than 5 years) cash inflows-outflows and forecasted changes in the value of the assets.

For this purpose management uses budgets and foreczsts prepared during the planning
process.

The results of the impairment test in respect of intangible assets with indefinite useful life and
goodwill, as well as estimates used by the Group in performing those tests, are disclosed Iin
Note 7.

Provisions and contingencies

From time to time, the Group may become a party to legal proceedings. It may also receive
claims, including claims from regulators as regards the Group’s business, transactions and tax
positions that involve a high degree of uncertainty. Provisions for bonuses and other employee
compensations that depend on certain performance indicators of the Group are also subject to
uncertainty. Among other assumptions, the Group’s management makes assumptions about the
likelihood of adverse outcome and the possibility for making reliable estimates of related costs or
losses. Unexpected events or changes in such assumptions may require the Group increase or
decrease the existing allowance or create an allowance for events that have not been previously
considered probable. Provisions accrued at the reporting date and contingencies are further
disclosed in Notes 16 and 24,

4. NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS")

New and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in the current period and
applicable to the Group’s consolidated financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current
period and have affected the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements.

. IFRS 9 Financial Instruments;
° IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (and the related Clarifications).
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments as of 1 January 2018 resulted in certain changes in the
accounting policy. The Group applied IFRS 9 without making adjustments to comparative
information for prior periods of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018, because during transition to the new standard, the Group applied a modified
retrospective approach which allows to take into account the changes related to adoption of the
new accounting policy with regard to retained earnings (accumulated deficit) as at the beginning
of the period.

IFRS 9 replaced the provisions of IAS 39 and introduced new requirements for classification,
recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial
instruments and impairment of financial assets. Adoption of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018 resulted
in certain changes in the accounting policy and adjustments to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group’s financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits and
accounts receivable, Financial liabilities mainly comprise bank loans. As all of the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities are measured at amortized cost using effective interest method, their
recognition In the consolidated statements under IFRS 9 did not differ significantly from the IAS
39 accounting model. Amendments to accounting policies related to the classification and
measurement of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 2 Significant Accounting
Policies.

The table below presents the differences in classification of financial assets under IFRS 9 and

IAS 38.
Classification
IAS 39 IFRS 9
Restricted cash At amortized cost At amortized cost
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables At amortized cost
Short-term bank deposits Loans and receivables At amortized cost
Cash and cash equivalents At amortized cost At amortized cost

The Group applied a simplified approach to recognition of lifetime expected credit losses for its
trade and other receivables. The Group performed a historical analysis of bad debt allowance
accruals and write-offs to profit and loss with respect to its trade and other receivables. Based
on the results of the analysis the Group determined that the amount of allowance for doubtful
receivables accrued as at 1 January 2018 was adequate taking Into account the impairment
provisions of IFRS 9.

The application of IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position and
performance.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

As of 1 January 2018, the Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
IFRS 15 introduces a five-step approach to revenue recognition and certain disclosure
requirements applicable to specific cases. Adoption of IFRS 15 resulted in certain changes in the
accounting policy and certain adjustments to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s accounting policy in respect of revenue recognition is disclosed in Note 2 Significant
Accounting Policies.

In accordance with IFRS 15 transition rules, the Group’s management assessed the impact of
IFRS 15 on the consolidated statements and concluded that the application of IFRS 15 did not
have @ material impact on the Group’s financial position and performance.

25

157



HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Standards and interpretations that have been issued, but not yet effective

At the date of authorization of these consolidated financial statements, the following Standards
and Interpretaticns were In Issue but not yet effective, and have not been early adopted
in preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

° IFRS 16 Leases!;

B IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?;

e IFRIC 22 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatmenis!;

. Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Saie or Contribution cf Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?;

. Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with flegative Compensationt;

° Amendments tc IAS 19 Empioyee Benefits *;

° Amendments to IAS 28 Long-Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures';

. Annual Improvements tc IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle?.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, earlier application permitted.
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, earlier application permitted.
1 Effective date will be determined later, earlier application permitted.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the application of standards and
amendments listed above will have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the future, except for the effect of IFRS 16 Leases as described below.

IFRS 16 Leases

1IFRS 16 Introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and
accounting treatments for both lessors and lessees. IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease
guidance including IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified asset is
controlled by a customer. The standard Introduces a single accounting model for lessees that
requiring recognition of the capitalized right to use the asset, as well as the corresponding
liabllity, on the balance sheet. Thus, distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting. This accounting method is applicable for all leases except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost (subject to
certain exception) less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
measurement of the lease liability. The lease liability Is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others.
Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments
under IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows, whereas under IFRS 16 model, the lease
payments will be split into a principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are required by
IFRS 16.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 1 January 2019, and interim periods
within those periods. Early application of IFRS 16 is permitted.

The Group has started an assessment of the impact on its consolidated financial statements.
The Group expects material impact on the financial statements, however it is not practicable to
provide a reasonable estimate of the effect IFRS 16 until the Group completes the review.
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5.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are generally considered to be related if one party has the abliity to control the other
party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions, as defined by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures. In considering each possible related
party relationship, attention is paid to the substance of the relationship not merely the legal form.
Related parties may enter intc transactions which unrelated parties might net, and transacticns
between related parties may not be effected on the same terms, conditions and amecunts as

transactions between unrelated parties.

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into various transacticns with related
parties, such as sale and purchase of railcar spare parts, components and castings, or financing
and investing transactions.

As at 31 December 2018 related parties with which the Group had significant balances
outstanding included associates and joint ventures, as well as Otkritie FC Bank PJSC. In 2018,
Otkritie FC Bank PJSC increased the effective ownership interest in PJSC RPC UWC as at

31 December 2018, exceeding 20%, which gives the bank significant influence over the Group.

In 2018, the ICT Group ceased to have a significant influence on the Group. Thus, as at
31 December 2018 the outstanding balances with the ICT Group and its former subsidiaries were
not included in the balances with the entities that have a significant influence on PJSC RPC UWC,

but are included in related party transactions for 2018.

In 2017, for the purposes of this disclosure, transactions and balances with NitroChemProm LLC
and Vostok 1520 LLC were presented as transactions with associates and joint ventures. In 2018,
these entities were removed from the related parties’ list.

The nature of the related party relationships for those related parties, with whom the Group
entered Into significant transactions or had significant balances outstanding at 31 December
2018, are the parent, entities with significant influence, entities under common control,

associates and joint ventures.

The Group had the following balances with its related parties:

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Accounts receivable:
Trade and other receivables
Entities under common control 114,772 108,647
Parent company 3 3
Cash and cash equivalents
Otkritie FC Bank PISC 8,129
Advances paid
Entities under common control 43,170 130,212
Associates and joint ventures of RPC UWC = 8,420
Borrowings
Otkritie FC Bank PJSC 392,343 -
Entities under common control 300,852 383,978
Accounts payable:
Trade accounts payable
Entities under common control 30,793 13,048
Entities with significant influence over the Group - 5,206
Parent company 4,512 1,554
Advances received
Entities under common control 39,658 76,823
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The Group’s transactions with its related parties were as follows:

2018 2017
Revenue
Entities under common control 978,622 824,568
Subsidiaries of the group with significant influence over the Group 375 405
Associate companies 43 -
Other income
Entities under common control 3,389 1,051
Purchases of inventories and services
Entities under common control 179,203 90,233
Subsidiaries of the group with significant influence over the Group 7,054 13,446
Assoclate companies 17,139 5,001
Management fees
Parent company 9,042 8,058
Interest expense
Parent company - 1,410
Otkritie FC Bank PISC 47,549 -
Entities under common control 27,043 26,647
Loss from disposals of other assets
Entities under common control C 2,365
Penalty payments received
Entities under common control = 6,076
Purchases of intangible assets
Entities under common control 10,670 18,093
Parent company 255 597

Trade house UWC was the major customer of the Group during the year ended 31 December
2018 with the total sales of railcars amounting to USD 755,266 thousand (31 December 2017:

USD 774,175 thousand).

Compensation of key management personnel

In 2018 and 2017 key management personnel of the Group consisted of the General Director of
TVSZ. The amounts of short-term remuneration paid (excluding social security contributions) to

key management personnel in 2018 and 2017 were USD 119 thousand and USD 61 thousand
respectively.

6. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has a share in the following significant associates:

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Country of Country of
Company name residence Interest, % residence Interest, %
TUBC LIMITED Cyprus 49% Cyprus 49%
LTD WABTEC-UWC Cyprus 49% Cyprus 49%

LLC Timken UWC

In 2015, the Group signed an agreement on establishing an associate Timken UWC LLC with
Timken Lux Holdings II S.A.R.L. and establishing TUBC Limited, the shareholder of Timken UWC
LLC. The Group owns a 49% share in TUBC Limited.
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The principal activity of the associate is the production of bearings for freight railcars. In 2015
and 2016 years, Timken UWC LLC was constructing a plant for production of bearings.

The associate commenced its operating activity in 2017, Timken UWC LLC is an associate of
the Group as the Group has significant influence over its financial and operating activities,

i.e. the Group has decision-making powers but cannot control activities of Timken UWC LLC.

The Group’s share in the loss of the associate recognized in the statement of profit or loss and
comprehensive income for 2018 and 2017 was USD 1,565 thousand and USD 2,390 thousand,

respectively.

Summarized financial information in respect of the Group’s associate and its reconciliation to

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate are set out below. The summarized financial
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’s consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRSs adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes,

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
Cash and cash equlvalents 794 2,742
Accounts receivable 1,214 3,243
Inventories 5,701 5,167
Property, plant and equipment 15,960 22,780
Deferred tax assets 3,140 2,711
Trade payables (5,038) (6,922)
Other current liabilities (489) (576)
Net assets of the associate 21,282 29,145
Group's ownership interest In the associate 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in the associate 10,428 14,281

2018 2017
Revenue 15,053 5,100
Loss for the year (3,193) (4,877)
Other comprehensive income for the year (4,669) 1,655
Total comprehensive loss for the year (7,862) (3,222)
The above loss for the year Includes the following:

2018 2017
Cost of sales (16,255) (8,225)
Selling expenses (1,857) (2,484)
Foreign exchange loss (1,351) (358)
Other expense (79) (143)
Income tax benefit 1,292 1,233

LLC JC Wabtec UWC

In 2015 the Group signed an agreement on establishing an associate JV Wabtec UWC LLC with
Wabtec Corporation and establishing WABTEC-UWC LTD, the shareholder of JV Wabtec UWC LLC,
The Group owns a 49% share in WABTEC-UWC LTD. The principal activity of the associate is

the development and production of innovative components for freight rolling stock, including

the heavy one. JV Wabtec-UWC LLC is an associate of the Group as the Group has significant
influence over its financial and operating activities, i.e. the Group has decision-making powers but
cannot control activities of JV Wabtec-UWC LLC. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the carrying
value of the Group's interest in the associate amounted to USD 87 thousand and USD 95

thousand respectively.
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7.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible
assets at the
development Know-how
Goodwill stage and patents Software Total

Initial Cost
Cost as at 1 January 2017 2,264 21,150 59,340 3,782 86,536
Additions - 19,058 433 845 20,336
Transfers - (11,768) 11,768 - -
Disposal - (1,652) - - (1,652)
Translation to presentation

currency 120 1,196 3,308 213 4,837
Cost as at 31 December 2017 2,384 27,984 74,849 4,840 110,057
Additions - 12,420 1,666 640 14,726
Transfers - (14,747) 14,747 - -
Translation to presentation

currency (407) (4,507) (14,388) (896) (20,198)
Cost as at 31 December 2018 1,977 21,150 76,874 4,584 104,585
Amortization
Accumulated amortization

as at 1 January 2017 ~ - (10,968) (1082) (12,050)
Amortization charge - - (3,801) (605) (4,406)
Translation to presentation

currency - - (633) (64) (697)

Accumulated amortization
as at 31 December 2017

(15,402) (1,751) (17,153)

Amortization charge = - (5,261) (497) (5,758)
Impairment loss - (14,505) (412) - (14 917)
Translation to presentation

currency - 1,412 3,125 357 4 894
Accumulated amortization

as at 31 December 2018 - (13,093) (17,950) (1,891) (32,934)
Carrying amount

as at 31 December 2017 2,384 27,984 59,448 3,090 92,904

Carrying amount
as at 31 December 2018 1‘977 8‘057 58‘924 2|693 71.651

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, intangible assets in the development stage included
capitalised expenses for development of casting and railway car building technologies for future
use in production of the new generation railway cars in the town of Tikhvin.

The cost of registered patents is transferred from intangible assets under development to know-
hows and patents, and Is amortized over the patents’ useful economic lives ranging from 9 to
289 months.
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On 1 January 2018, the Group revised the useful lives of intangible assets: for assets previously
recorded as assets with an unlimited useful life, the residual useful life was established at

43 years, equal to the average residual life of the property used by the Group for the production
of railway cars on the production site. The book value of such objects amounted to USD 32,157
thousand as of 1 January 2018, the amount of depreciation accrued for 2018 was USD

843 thousand.

In 2017, the Group acquired a package of licenses for the SAP resource management system, the
total amount of capitalized costs amounted to USD 605 thousand. SAP licenses are included In the
«Software» line of this disclosure, which also Includes the ERP system impiemented at JSC
"TVSZ". There were no additional capitalized costs for SAP licenses in 2018 for the Group.

4s of 31 December 2017,there were no pledged intangible assets. As of 31 December 2018,
intangible assets with a net book value of USD 665 thousand were pledged under the Group’s
loan agreements (Note 13).

At 31 December 2018 the Group perfcrmed an impairment test of intangible assets and identified
signs of impairment of a number of intangibles. The amount of impairment recognized in 2018
amounted to USD 14,917 thousand.

Goodwill

The goodwill which arose from business combinations in prior years and intangible assets with
Indefinite useful lives have been allocated to the Group’s single cash generating unit, which
relates to the Group’s principal activity of producing new generation of railway cars.

At 31 December 2018 the Group performed an impzairment test of goodwill. For this purpose, the
recoverable amount was determined based on value in use calculations. Value in use calculation
uses cash flow projections based on actual operating results and business plan approved by
management and corresponding discount rate, which reflects time value of money and risks
associated with the Group’s operations. Discount rate for was calculated based on weighted-
average cost of capital for the Group before taxation; its nominal value is 14.2%.

Forecasted cash flows are based on the Group’s business plan for 2019-2023, approved by
management. The production plan takes into account long-term trends developed in 2018 and
provide a significant reallocation of manufacturing capacities to production of hopper cars,
special-purpose cars and platforms.

Cash flows after 2023 were determined by extrapolation using a steady growth rate equal to
3.5% per year, which is estimated based on historical experience and expectations of market
development and reflects the forecasted long-term growth rates of Russian industry.

Calculated recoverable value of cash generating unit exceeded its carrying amount.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment were as follows:

Cost or revalued amount
As at 1 January 2017

Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Translation to presentation
currency

As at 31 December 2017

Additions

Disposals

Transfers

Revaluation gain/(loss) of
property, plant and equipment

Netting of accumulated
depreciation (revaluation)

Translation to presentation
currency

As at 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

As at 1 January 2017

Depreciation charge

Disposals

Translation to presentation
currency

As at 31 December 2017

Depreciation charge

Disposals

Impairment loss

Netting of accumulated
depreciation (revaluation)

Translation to presentation
currency

As at 31 December 2018

Net book value

As at 31 December 2017

As at 31 December 2018

Construction
in progress
and
Machinery, prepayments
Production  equipment Office for
plant and and motor  equipment construction
buildings vehicles  and furniture _in progress Total
272,344 332,040 2,351 4,955 611,690
- - - 12,756 12,756
- (1,490) - (179) (1,669)
2,177 12,163 130 (14,470) “
14,480 17,760 127 206 32,573
289,001 360,473 2,608 3,268 655,350
- = B 20,373 20,373
- (853) (5) (29) (887)
1,519 12,136 497 (14,152) -
22,612 {3,362) ¥ = 19,250
{14.218) (56,235} - - (70,453)
{50,341} (56,929) (494) (1,164) (108,928)
248,573 255,230 2,606 8,296 514,705
(2,976) (19,433) (1,898) = (24,307)
(7,711) (30,285) (295) - (38,291)
= 891 s - 891
(259) (1,417) (103) - (1,779)
(10,946) (50,244) (2,296) = (63,486)
(7,584) (29,401) (578) - (37,563)
- (84) 3 - (81)
5 (3,908) = = (3,903)
14,218 56,235 70,453
1,234 6,401 449 - 8,084
(3,073) (21,001) (2,422) = (26,496)
278‘055 310,229 312 3,268 591‘865
245,500 234,229 184 8,296 488,209

P e

el cm—e—{oe

Construction in progress primarily includes expenses for the construction of the railway car
manufacturing plant and equipment for installation. There was no capitalised borrowing costs
during the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: USD 93 thousand).
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The Group’s property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of USD 374,250 thousand
(31 December 2017: USD 505,253 thousand) are pledged under loan agreements (Note 13).

Included in construction in progress are prepayments for property, plant and equipment with cost
equal to USD 2,637 thousand at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: USD 825 thousand).
The prepayments are made mostly for the specific equipment with long period of manufacturing.

The Group's production plant and buildings and machinery, equipment and motor vehicles are
accounted for at their revalued amounts, representing the fair value at the date of revaluation,
less any subsequently accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Revaluation
of these groups of property, plant and equipment was performed by independent appraiser at 30
June 2018. The fair value of the revalued property, plant and equipment was determined using
the cost approach that reflects capital expenditures/ investments required for the construction or
acquisition of an asset with similar characteristics, adjusted for the actual age of the assets.

The key assumptions used in the valuation were the level of deterioration (34% at revaluation
date) and the replacement cost. Even a slight increase in the level of deterioration will resuit in
significant decrease in fair value of property, plant and equipment, and slight increase in the
replacement cost will result in significant increase in fair value of the assets.

The majority of revalued fixed assets are specific, thus, direct analogues are not available at the
market and therefore an independent appraiser applied the method of indexation of costs
incurred during construction, acquisition or installation of the assets to estimate the replacement
cost, Considering the unique characteristics of the revalued items, assumptions used in
assessment of fair value, and level of observable input data, the fair value was categorized into
Level 3.

Details of the Group’s revalued items of property, plant and equipment and information about the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 are as follows:

Fair value as at
December 31,

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2018
Machinery, equipment and motor
vehicles - - 234,225 234,225
Production plant and buildings - - 245,501 245,501

Had the Group’s equipment and motor vehicles, production piant and buildings been measured on
a historical cost basis, their carrying amount would have been as follows:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
Machinery, equipment and motor vehicles 133,347 182,799
Production plant and buildings 162,716 196,250
INVENTORIES
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Raw materials and supplies 127,847 136,111
Finished goods 4,539 34,874
Other 211 600
Total inventories 132,597 171,585

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 there were no pledged inventories.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade accounts receivable

Advance payments to suppliers and contractors
VAT receivable

Prepayments of soclal security contributions
Other accounts receivable

Provision for doubtful accounts receivable

Total trade and other receivables

31 December

31 December

2018 2017

117,612 110,391
86,225 158,010
7,126 31,532
1,282 1,547
2,367 2,591
(1,129) (1,281)
213,483 302,790

Management determines the allowance for expected credit losses based on the assessment of
customers’ credit quality, changes in industry trends, subsequent receipts and historical

experience. Ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Past due 1-90 days

Past due 90-180 days

Past due 181-365 days

Past due more than 365 days

Total

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

24,980 24,680

13,833 26,779

18,173 32,108

397 9,013

57,312 92,580

Movements In the allowance for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables during the

years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year

Impairment losses recognised on receivables/
(reversal of impairment losses)

Use of the allowance for expected credit losses

Translation to presentation currency

Balance at end of the year

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Current accounts in RUB
Current accounts in Euro
Current accounts in USD
Escrow account
Deposits in RUB

Total cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
1,281 1,186
222 66
(151} (38)
(223) 67
1,129 1,281

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
1,071 8,566
103 159
138 -
- 84
7,198 -
8,510 8,809

As at 31 December 2018, the Group placed cash in overnight deposits to gain interest income.

The interest rate on the deposits was 5.3%.
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12. SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL

13

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s issued share capital amounted to USD 37,080, divided
inte 37,080 shares with a par value of USC 1 each. The difference between the fair value of

the consideration receivable from the sharehclders for the issuance of the ordinary shares and
the total par value of the shares Is recognized as share premium and equals USD 360,764

thousand as at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Additional paid-in capital represents a cumulative effect of additional contributions from and

distributions to the shareholders.
LOANS AND BORROWINGS

RUB denominated short-term borrowings

Current portion of long-term borrowings from financial institutions

Short-term borrowings from financial institutions
Other short-term borrowings

USD denominated short-term borrowings

Other short-term borrowings

Total short-term loans and borrowings

USD denominated long-term borrowings

Other long-term borrowings

Less: current portion

RUB denominated long-term borrowings
Long-term horrowings from financial institutions
Less: current portion

Other long-term borrowings

Less: current portion

Total long-term loans and borrowings

Borrowings from related parties

Bank Otkritie (RUB denominated credit line)

Rail 1520 LLC (RUB denominated)

Ovilleno Holdings Ltd (USD denominated)

RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus (USD denominated
credit line)

RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus (RUR denominated
credit line)

RAIL Holding (USD denominated credit line)

RAIL Holding (RUR denominated credit line)

Rail 1520 BVI Ltd

Total

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
27,508 9,549
122,354 147,569
6,690 2,906
2,343 11,669
158,895 171,693

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
109,143 200,623
(2,343) (11,669)
269,989 335,178
(27,508) (9,549)
191,709 164,570
(6,690) (2,906)
534,300 676,246
Contractual
interest rate
as at
31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2018 2017
Key rate of
the CBR +2.5% 392,343 482,746
-* 42,649 -
=% 99,792 -
6.4%* 3,313 168,487
10% 53,438 47,249
6.4% = 26,355
6%** 95,621 117,321
6,4% 6,039 5,780
693,195 847,939

* In 2018 as a result of series of loans’ settlement with related party the USD denominated loan from RAIL 1520
Finance Cyprus was replaced with interest free liabilities to Rail 1520 LLC and Ovilleno Holdings Ltd. These liabilities
were recognized at amortized cost using the discount rates of 8.57% and 5.88% respectively. The difference between

the amortized value and nominal value of the liabilities was recognized in additional paid-in capital.

** In July 2017 the Group amended terms of the RUR denominated loan agreement with one of the related parties.
Under the new conditions, the contractual rate was reduced from 11% to 6% per annum. The new rate was lower
than the market rate, which was estimated by the Group’s management at 10.43% at the date of the amendment.
Accordingly, the loan was recognized at amortized cost using the discount rate of 10.43%. The difference between
the amortized value and nominal value of the loan was recognized in additional paid-in capital.
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Security. Under the above borrowing agreements with financial institutions, the Group provides
the following types of security:

. Property, plant and equipment (Note 8);
. Intangible assets (Note 7).

In addition, as at 31 December 2018 the Group provided the pledge of share in the following
subsidiaries: AFCT Advanced Freight Car Technology Limited (100%), DEANROAD Limited
(100%), Raygold Limited (100%) and TVSZ JSC (100%).

As at 31 December 2018 the related party under common control Trade house UWC guarantied
the whole amount of the loan from Bank Otkritie. In addition, certain pproperty, plant and
equipment items of other entities under common control are pledged under the loan agreement
with Bank Otkritie,

Reconciliation of financial liabilities. The table below shows the changes in liabilities in 2018
as a result of financial activities, including changes due to cash flows, as well as changes not
related to cash flows. Liabillities arising from financial activities are those liabilities from which
cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows have been or will be classified as cash
flows from financial activities.

Cash flows
from Foreign Discounting
31 December financing currency of 31 December
2017 activities _ _translation _Net interest _borrowings 2018
Long term borrowings
from financial
institutions 482,746 {8,771 (81,541} 8 - 392,343
Loans from related
parties 365,192 13.85¢ {32,833) 26,887 (72,253) 300,852
847,939 5,088 ‘ 114‘473 ! 26,895 (72@53! 693,195

The table below shows the changes in liabilities in 2017:

Cash flows
from Foreign Discounting
31 December financing currency of 31 December
2016 activities translation  _Net interest _borrowings 2018
Long term borrowings
from financial
institutions 337,370 118,523 27,882 (1,029) - 482,746
Loans from related
parties 356,323 18,021 13,052 27,043 (49,346) 365,192
693,693 136,544 40,934 26,114 (49,346) 847,939

Covenants. Under the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to comply with a
number of covenants and restrictions, including maintenance of certain financial ratios and other
non-financlal conditions. Non-compliance with these covenants may result in negative
consequences for the Group, including declaration of default.

Compliance with covenants during the year ended 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2018 one of the Group's subsidiaries breached a number of obligatory default
financial covenants stipulated in the loan agreements with Otkritie FC Bank PJSC. As at the
reporting date non-current portion of liabilities under these agreements amounted to USD
242,481 thousand:

o The ratio of the accounts payable less inventory and accounts receivable to total assets,
determined in accordance to the statutory financial statements;

B The ratio of a company (borrower) accounts payable to other companies of the Group and
borrower’s accounts receivable from other companies of the Group;

. Target ratio of capital to assets of the borrower;

) The ratio of borrower’s total debt as at the reporting date to EBITDA, as defined based on
the financial statements prepared in accordance with Russian Accounting Standards.
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After the reporting date but before the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements
official letters were received, confirming that the creditors’ will not demand an early repayment of
the loans.

At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the Group was at the final
stage of the project for the restructuring of its portfolio of loans from one of the major creditors,
Otkritie FC Bank PISC. The restructuring Is aimed, among other things, at the approval of a new
set of financial and non-financial covenants to eliminate the breach of covenants in the fourth

quarter of 2018 (Note 2).

The management of the Group estimated the probability that bank will demand early repayment
of loans under agreements with breached covenants Is low and, therefore, as at 31 December
2018 such loans were presented in the consolidated financial statements for 2018 as non-current
liabilities according to the initial payment terms stipulated in the loan agreements.

Compliance with covenants during the year ended 31 December 2017

As at 31 December 2017, one of the Group's subsidiaries breached a number of obligatory default
financial covenants stipulated in the loan agreement with Bank FC Otkritie PJSC. In particular:
the ratio of the accounts payable less inventory and accounts receivable to total assets,
determined in accordance with the statutory financial statements of the subsidiary and the ratic
of intra-group (settlements with the companies of the RPC UWC Group) accounts payable and
accounts receivable balances to the total amounts of accounts payable and accounts receivable.
The sanction applied to the borrower was an increase of the interest rate by 1% (one percentage
point) from 8 February2018. In April 2018 the Group has received a letter from the bank
confirming that the bank will not impose additional sanctions, apart from those previcusly notified
to the borrower,

The management of the Group estimated that probability that banks will use their right and demand
an early repayment of the borrowings is low and therefore as at 31 December 2017 such borrowings
were presented in these consolidated financial statements as non-current liabilities according to

the initial payment terms stipulated in the loan agreements. This was confirmed in 2018, as no
banks exercised their right to demand an early repayment of the debt.

Available credit facilities. As at 31 December, 2018 the Group's total unused credit facilities
amounted to USD 350,629 thousand and related to the following credit lines:

Maturity Interest rate Available till Amount
RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus 2022 6,40% 9 August 2022 143,569
RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus 2023 10% 26 June 2023 69,530
RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus 2023 6,40% 25 June 2023 72,654
RAIL 1520 Finance Cyprus 2023 10% 9 October 2023 41,910
Total 327‘664

Repayment. The schedule of repayment of borrowings for the five years ending 31 December
2023 and thereafter is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2019 158,895
2020 33,798
2021 33,798
2022 37,797
2023 190,844
Thereafter 238,062
Total 693!195
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14. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

The Group receives subsidies from the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Russian Federation,
granted within the state-run program on partial compensation of costs associated with production
of Innovative freight railcars fleet and interest payable on bank loans used for modernization of
the equipment to the extent that such equipment is compliant with certain requirements.

In 2017 raw materials used in production are reduced for the amount of government grants
received by the Group for compensation of costs associated with production and purchase of
innovative freight railcars fleet in the amount of USD 1,339 thousand.

In 2017 interest expenses on bank borrowings were approved for refund in the amount of

USD 9,127 thousand (Note 21).

In 2018 the Group did not receive government grants.

15. TRADE, TAX AND OTHER PAYABLES
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Trade accounts payable 90,635 80,244
Advances received 41,968 76,823
VAT payable 12,134 24,436
Payable to banks under factoring agreements - 10,771
Other taxes payable 1,160 1,258
Other payables 4,411 3,337
Total trade, tax and other payables 150,308 196,869
16. PROVISIONS AND ACCRUALS
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
Unused vacation accrual 3,816 4,359
Provision for legal claims 508 1,242
Accrual for annual bonuses 451 339
Warranty provision 74 75
Other 831 3
Total 5,680 6,018
17. COST OF SALES
2018 2017
Raw materials used in production 719,186 552,857
Payroll costs 103,774 102,059
Rent and other production services, including utilities 92,720 59,562
Depreciation and amortization 44,278 43,384
Enerqy cost 23,269 33,113
Write-off of inventories to net-realizable value 697 140
Other 7,309 3,346
Total cost of sales 991,233 794,461
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18.

19

20.

21.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Management fees

Professional fees

Rent

Bank charges

Transportation costs for the delivery of railcars to the buyer
Travel expenses

Warranty provision

Other

Total general and administrative expenses

OTHER INCOME

Royalty income

Penalty payments received

Gain from the results of stock-count

Rent

Sale of scrap metal

Income from provision of services (including sale of electricity)
Foreign exchange gain on operating activities

Other

Total other income

OTHER EXPENSES

Foreign exchange loss on operating activities
Penalties

Provision for doubtful debts (Note 10)

Loss from disposals of other assets

Other

Total other expenses

FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES

Interest expense on borrowings from third parties
Government grants received

Cost of guarantees and sureties

Write-off of bank commissions due to early repayment of loan
Interest expense on borrowings from related parties

Net foreign exchange losses

Total finance expenses

Net foreign exchange gains
Interest income

Total finance income
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2018 2017
9,042 8,058
1,977 2,027

266 461
212 2,738
45 134
19 59
(2) (647)
4,196 4,675

15,755

17,505

2018 2017
3,544 1,050
1,362 6,076

395 2,842
223 379
241 126
150 2,719

- 617
1,593 3,535
7,508 17,344

2018 2017

2,330 -
187 1,096
183 66
127 3,020
2,055 477
4,881 4,659
2018 2017
47,557 44,089
- (9,127)
- 635
- 1,411
26,887 28,143
33,895 2
108,339 65,150
2018 2017
- 1,508
2,240 434
2,240 1,942
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22. INCOME TAX

Income tax expense recorded in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

comprises the following:

2018 2017
Current income tax expense - (365)
Deferred income tax benefit/(expense) 1,998 (4,418)
Income tax benefit/(expense) 1,998 {4,783)

Below is a reconciliation of income tax calculated using the income tax rate effective in the Russian
Federation where the Group has its main production entities to the actual income tax expense

recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,

A reconciliation of the expected and actual tax charge is provided below:

2018 2017

Loss before tax (128,809) (12,083)
Income tax benefit at the rate of 20% effective in the Russian

Federation 25,762 2,417
Effect of different income tax rates and taxation rules applicable to

foreign subsidiaries of the Group (15,049) (5,461)
Provision in relation tax losses of Russian subsidiary of the Group (7,672) -
Non-deductible expenses (1,043) (1,739)
Income tax benefit/(expense) 1,998 (4,783)

The movement in the deferred tax balances Is as follows:

Deferred tax

liability on
(Charged)/ revaluation
credited  Provision in of property, Currency
1 January to profitor relationtax plantand translation 31 December
2018 loss losses equipment reserve 2018

Tax effect of

deductible/

(taxable)

temporary

differences
Loss carryforward 78,486 7,672 (7,672) - (13,411) 65,075
Property, plant and

equipment (46,890) 1,437 (3,863) 8,246 (41,070)
Accounts recelvable 212 - e (36) 176
Borrowings 4 - - - (1) 3
Provisions 1,258 545 - - (268) 1,535
Intangible assets (2,305) (16) - - 395 (1,926)
Inventories (2,100) 29 - 356 (1,715)
Other (68) 3 & 11 (54)
Net deferred tax

asset 28,597 9,670 (7,672) (3,863) (4,708) 22,024

40

172



HOLME SERVICES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(US Dollar thousand, unless otherwise stated)

Deferred tax
liability on
(Charged)/ revaluation
credited of property, Currency
1 January to profit or plant and translation 31 December

2017 loss equipment reserve 2017

Tax effect of

deductible/(taxable)

temporary differences
Loss carryforward 75,031 (520) = 3,975 78,486
Property, plant and equipment (42,105) (2,517) - (2,268) (46,890)
Accounts receivable 240 (40) = 12 212
Borrowings (295) 309 - (10) 4
Provisions 1,001 201 % 56 1,258
Intangible assets (2,176) (13) - (116) (2,305)
Inventories (226) (1,838) - (36) (2,100)
Other (65) - - (3) (68)
Net deferred tax asset 31,405 (4,418) = 1,610 28,597

As at 31 December 2018 the Group provided provision in relation to unused tax loss carry
forwards of a subsidiary of USD 7,672 thousand as the management is not certain that these

assets will be recovered in full,

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Starting 2017 the Group can offset not more than 50% of taxable profit of each subsidiary
registered in the RF against tax loss carry forward. The timing of settlement of tax loss carry
forwards is no longer limited (after changes applied to the Tax Code of RF active starting 1 January
2017).

23. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure commitments. At 31 December 2018 the Group has contractual capital
expenditure commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment totaling USD 802 thousand
(31 December 2017: USD 1,239 thousand).

Operating lease agreements. The Group leases part of its manufacturing facilities and
equipment from related parties under operating lease agreements with indefinite maturity date.
In 2017 the rent expenses recognised within profits and losses in the reporting period amounted
to USD 61,855 thousand (31 December 2017: USD 55,544).

24. CONTINGENCIES AND OPERATING RISKS

Operating environment

Because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly
sensitive to the price of oil and gas on the world market.

During 2018, the oll and gas prices remained low. The management cannot reasonably estimate
future price changes and the impact they may have on the financial position of the Group.

Starting from 2014, sanctions have been imposed in several packages by the U.S. and the E.U.
on certain Russian officlals, businessmen and companies. These sanctions remained in 2018,
Moreover, downgrade of Russia’s long-term foreign currency sovereign rating by international
credit agencies has led to reduced access of the Russian businesses to international capital and
export markets, increased inflation, economic recession and other negative economic
consequences.
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25,

The impact of further economic developments on future operations and financial position of the
Group Is at this stage difficult to determine.

Taxation

The Russlan business legislation continues to be subject to rapid changes. Management’s
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the activity of the Group may be challenged by the
relevant regional and federal authorities. Recent events suggest that the tax authorities are
taking a more assertive position In their interpretation of the legislation and as a result, it is
possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be
challenged. Fiscal periods generally remain open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes
for three calendar years proceeding the year of tax audit. Under certain circumstances reviews

may cover longer periods.

Where tax uncertainty exists, the Group has accrued tax liabilities as management's best
estimate of the probable outflow of resources which will be required to settle such liabilities.
Management also assesses the maximum exposure to tax risks, which are considered to be less
than probable but more than remote. The Group identified possible contingent tax liabilities for
the three-year period ended 31 December 2018. Management estimates that the Group’s possible
exposure in relation to the aforementioned tax risks will not exceed 3% of the Group's total
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018. No provisions were recorded with respect to
these tax risks. Management continues to monitor closely any developments related to tax risks
and regularly reassesses the risk and related liabilities, provisions and disclosures.

Legal proceedings

The Group has been and continues to be the subject of legal proceedings and adjudications from
time to time, none of which has had, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse impact
on the Group., Management believes that the resolution of such matters will not have a material
impact on the Group’s financial position or operating results.

Environmental issues

The enforcement of environmental regulation In the Russian Federation is evolving and the
enforcement posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group
periodically evaluates its obligations under environmental regulations. As obligations are
determined, they are recognized immediately. Potential liabilities, which might arise as a result of
changes In existing regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be
material, In the current enforcement climate under existing legislation, management believes that
there are no significant liabilities for environmental damage. The Group undertook monitoring of the
environment at the construction site and within the limits of its impact on the natural environment
at an environmental survey stage. No adverse impact of the dump operations on the environment
has been found.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is being carried out by the Group in relation to financial (credit, market,
currency, liquidity and interest rate), operating and legal risks. The main purpose of financial risk
management is to determine risk limits and to further uphold the limits determined. Operating
and legal risk management shall provide reliable performance of internal policy and procedures of
the Group to minimise these risks.

Credit risk. The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to
a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge

an obligation. Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Group’s transactions with
counterparties giving rise to financial assets.
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The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of assets is reflected in the carrying
amounts of financial assets on the balance sheet as follows:

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
Trade and other receivables 118,849 111,701
Cash and cash equivalents 8,510 8,809
Total 115,396 120‘510

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group's cash and cash equivalents are held primarily with
Bank Otkritie with Ba2 ratings as issued by Moody'’s.

Trade and other receivables are from sale of railcars and components to the related parties well
known by the Group.

Market risk. The Group takes on exposure to market risks. Market risks arise from open
positions in foreign currencies and Interest bearing assets and liabilities which are exposed to
general and specific market movements. Management sets limits on the value of risk that may be
accepted, which is monitored on a monthly basis. However, the use of this approach does not
prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more significant market movements,

Sensitivities to market risks included below are based on a change in a factor while holding all
other factors constant. In practice this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the factors
may be correlated - for example, changes in interest rate and changes in foreign currency rates.

Currency risk. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised
assets or liabilities are denominated in the currency different from the functional currency of each
entity in the Group. The Group attracts foreign currency denominated long-term borrowings and
a considerable part of the contracts with the Group’s suppliers of production equipment is
denominated in foreign currency, thus the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk. The table
below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the reporting
date relative to the functional currency of the respective entities of the Group.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Monetary  Monetary Net Monetary  Monetary Net
financial financial monetary  finandial financial monetary
assets liabilities position assets liabilities position
usD 1,296 (107,137) (105,841) 59 (191,995) (191,936)
EUR 154 (4,811) (4,656) 159 (1,468) (1,309)
Total 1,450 (97,641) !96!1901 218  (193,463) ‘193‘24SI

The sensitivity of the Group’s financial results to reasonably possible changes in exchange rates
applied at the reporting date relative to the functional currency of the respective entities in the
Group, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:

At 31 December 2018, If the Russian Rouble had weakened/strengthened by 20% (2017: 20%)
against the USD with all other variables held constant, the net loss of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 would have increased/decreased by USD 18,307 thousand (2017: USD

38,387 thousand).

At 31 December 2018, If the Russian Rouble had weakened/strengthened by 20% (2017: 20%)
against the Euro with all other variables held constant, the net loss of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 would have increased/decreased by USD 931 thousand (2017: USD

262 thousand).

The exposure was calculated only for monetary balances denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the Group entities.
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Interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group Is exposed to the Interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both
fixed and variable interest rates. The Group manages the risk by maintaining an appropriate mix
between fixed and variable rate borrowings.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
floating rate borrowings at the reporting date. The analysis assumed that the balance at the end
of the period remained unchanged during the reporting period. A 3% increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 3% higher/(lower) and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s profit for 2018 would (decrease )/ increase by USD 11,770.

Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk Is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting
obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The table below shows financial liabilities at 31 December 2018 and 2017 by their remaining
contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the maturity table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Such undiscounted cash flows differ from the amount included in the

statement of financial position which is based on discounted cash flows.

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2018 is as follows:

From
Less than 12 months More than
12 months to 5 years 5 years Total
Fixed interest rate instruments (14,157) (72,511) (344,136) (430,804)
Variable Interest rate instruments (194,001) (328,784) - (522,784)
Non-interest bearing liabilities (95,135) (86) - (95,221)
Total future payments,
including principal and interest
payments (303,292) (401,381) (344,136) (1,048,810)

The maturity analysis of financial liabilities as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

From
Less than 12 months More than
12 months to 5 years 5 years Total
Fixed interest rate instruments (31,103) (247,972) (212,359) (491,433)
Variable Interest rate instruments (206,599) (266,240) (187,603) (660,441)
Non-interest bearing liabilities (94,720) (439) - (95,159)
Total future payments,
including principal and interest
payments (332,422) (514,650) (399,96& l 1i247‘034z

Capital risk management

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to stakeholders through optimization of the debt and equity balance within
the limits imposed by its providers or finance. The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt (borrowings as detailed in Note 26, offset by cash and cash equivalents balances) and equity
and reserves.
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26.

27.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31 December 31 December
2018 2017

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,510 8,809
Trade and other receivables 118,849 111,701
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowings 693.195 847,939
Trade and other payables 95,046 94,352
Finance lease obligation 175 809

Fair values. Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

31 December 2018 31 December 2017
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
Loans from related parties 300,852 283,622 353,323 330,722
Borrowings from financial
institutions 392,343 399,200 337,370 340,775

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January and February 2019, one of the Group’s subsidiaries repaid a loan provided by Otkritie
FC Bank PISC in the amount of USD 122,354 thousand. In March 2018, the Group signed
addendums to its loan agreements with Otkritie FC Bank PJSC. Those changes reduced interests
to a fixed rate of 2,55%, postponed the payment date of interest accrued in 2019 by one quarter
and postponed the payment of short-term portion of loan by one quarter.

As at 31 March 2019 one of the Group's subsidiaries breached a number of obligatory default
financial covenants stipulated in the loan agreements with Otkritie FC Bank PJSC.
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